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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Gilbert-Alexander House is a two-story brick, Federal style house
standing in a fifty-two-acre tract in North Washington essentially as it
appeared in the 1830's. The central portion of the structure was built in
1808 on a side hall plan, with a brick wing added c. 1823 to the west and
a wooden addltlontattached to the east in the 1830's. The two-story porch
on square, profile Doric posts probably replaced an earlier one-story
gabled entrance on turned posts at the time of the second addition; but a
similar feature remains at the back door. Original outbuildings still

tand in the yard and a family graveyard is located beyond on the property.
An unusual building material for this time in this area, the brick, as with
most Georgia classical revival houses, is laid in common bond. Also common
in Georgia was the staining of bricks and the pencilling of mortar joints
which is still evident on the wall surfaces.

The two-story porch in front of the central section of the house tends
to obscure the fact that the plan is not symmetrical, but is based on an
earlier type of four-room plan in which two rooms open off to one side of
the hall that extends the length of the house. The stairway is located
in the back section of this hall. The entrance door opening into the hall
from one side of the porch with its rectangular fan light and original
louvered shutters is framed by moldlngs. The windows of both brick section
are set, in the eighteenth-century manner, in a full architrave flush with
the brick wall. These are the twelve-light, large-pane sash, as Frederick
D. Nichols points out in The Early Architecture of Georgia, that were com-
mon to the finer houses of the previous century. Palladlan windows in both
gable ends of the original portion and gables elaborated by a dentil cor-
nice, an influence, according to Nichols, from Connecticut, are distinctive
features.

The interior vrith most of its original detail preserved is a good
example of a characteristic type of Federal style decoration. Only the
addition of a partition wall to form a hall into the 1830 addition and the
conversion of two of the tall paneled and inset windows of the stair hall
into doorways leading into the 1823 portion, have changed the original plan
The entrance hall leads through an opening framed by reeded pilasters and a
arch with key into the back stair hall. The front hall contains a molded
plaster medallion in its ceiling. The ceilings of both front and rear
parlors originally had plaster sunbursts with rosettes and egg-and-dart
moldings. 1In the front room this feature is now gone, while the back ceil-
ing needs some repair. The present owners plan to restore both to their
original condition. As Nichols has indicated, the plaster rosettes in the
cornices of these rooms are similar to the rather heavy detail in the near-
by Ware-Sibley House in Augusta. The fine mantel in the front room with it
val sunbursts in the frieze and reeded pilasters, and the black mante
ar with its ornaments picked out in gilt, are fine examples of
teristic Federal style detail. In additiomn, the rear room pre-
ypical original finish of the period with doors and wainscoting
gralned to simulate rich veneer.

brlck ‘kitchen with much of the equipment still intact as
e house, c. 1820, and the carrlage house, c. 1806, both
st111 stand in the backyard.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Gilbert-Alexander House, according to Frederick D. Nichols, isﬂgngﬁ
of the three earliest brick houses in the piedmont area of Georgia. In
Wilkes County, one of the area's earliest settlements, the Gilberts were
among the first settlers and their house is unique in that it has been
owned and occupied by one family and its descendents since the original
section was finished in 1808. The family graveyard on the property, in
which the present owner's mother was recently buried, attests to this
longevity. This home is a significant example of an early Federal style
house with most of its original exterior and interior detail intact which
contains some of the most distinguished family possessions in upcountry
Georgia. Among these are two fine portraits, one of Adam L. Alexander and
the other of his wife, Sarah Gilbert Alexander, by New Haven portrait
painter Nathaniel Jocelyn.

Felix H. Gilbert, the builder of the oldest part of the house, was ome
of two sons of Felix Gilbert, who came to Wilkes County from Virginia about
1784, bought 400 acres in the area which later became the family plantation,
and developed a prosperous merchant's business. At his death in 1801 his
sons, Felix Haywood and William Grant, formed a partnership to carry on the
family business. In 1802 Felix married Sarah Hillhouse, the daughter of
newspaper editor David P. Hillhouse and Sarah Porter Hillhouse, who were
early Washington residents fwom Connecticut. In 1805 Felix began building
the house, finishing this in 1808 just after his wife died on May 1, 1808,
at the age of twenty-five years. Not long afterward, in 1813, Felix also
died, leaving the house to his brother William, and his only child, Sarah,
to the guardianship of her grandmother Hillhouse. In 1819, William
gave Sarah Gilbert the house and in 1823 she married Adam leopold Alexander,
a Georgian attending Yale, whom whe had met while visiting her uncle in
Connecticut.

+ -—._The Alexanders, who had ten surviving children, enlarged the house,
f&rs out 1823 by a two-room brick addition to the west, and later in the
I‘BO's*b a wooden two-room and shed wing to the east. One of these chil-

[Eyﬁﬁg Edward Porter Alexander, served the Confederate Army with distinction
@ grlgailer general and was later president of the Georgia Railroad.

Ano ﬁ r, Cﬂarles Atwood Alexander, farmed the plantation and lived in the

. his second wife, Rosa Calhoun. Charles died in 1907 and at his
2th in 1912 much of the property was sold. The house, however,
eir daughter, Ida Calhoun Alexander, who in April, 1916, married
és Godde Wright. Mrs. Wright lived there until her death in 1971.
son Alexander Wright is planning to maintain the house in its original
state, restoring such details as the plaster ceiling decorations of the
parlors and gathering in some of the older furnishings from the descendents
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Georgia Writer's Project, W.P.A., The Story of Washington-Wilkes (Athens, 1941).
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Among the many pieces that have recently come back to the house are the two
fine Jocelyn portraits that now hang in the front parlor and a petite child's
windsor chair, dated 1736, from Connecticut. Also of interest is the four-
poster bed in which the ten Alexander children were born and a Georgia-made
cellerette stand.

This house in its setting of Linden trees, originally brought from Yale
by Adam L. Alexander, its brick walk and mill stones and its interior graced
by original furnishings, is a fine example of its period that has been lived
in and cared for since its construction. In addition to its architectural
quality, it has been the home of a distinguished Georgia family whose ances~
tors were among the earliest settlers of Wilkes County.
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